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RHESA HAVKI NS BARKSDALE, Circuit Judge:

This appeal principally concerns the convictions of M chael
McCord and O. B. Haley, in connection with their roles as trustees
in fundi ng a bank enpl oyee stock ownership plan, for conspiracy to
violate 18 U.S. C. 8§ 1954 (proscribing i nproper paynents to persons,
such as trustees, who influence such plans), to include whether
they satisfied 8 1954's "bona fide conpensation" exception to
crimnal liability. McCord also contests his five other bank-
rel ated convi cti ons and chal | enges his sentence on several grounds.
We REVERSE McCord's noney | aundering convi cti on and REMAND hi s case

for resentencing; otherw se, we AFFI RM



| .

In April 1993, as aresult of their activities at the Arerican
Bank of Commerce (ABC) in Del Rio, Texas, MCord and Haley were
convicted for conspiring to violate 8§ 1954, by agreei ng that Hal ey,
through his corporation, would give MCord shares of ABC stock
because of McCord's actions and decisions as a trustee of the ABC
enpl oyee stock ownership plan (ESOP), in violation of 18 U S.C. §
371 (count one). Each was acquitted of a substantive violation of
§ 1954 (counts two and three).

As for the several other related charges against MCord (to
include one against his wife), he was acquitted of soliciting
ki ckbacks, in violation of 18 U S.C. § 215(a)(2) (count seven,
whi ch charged that he demanded a $5,000 finder's fee fromtwo ABC
custoners to secure a buyer for their property); but he was
convicted for filing a false tax return by failing to report the
gain fromsales of the stock received fromHaley's corporation, in
violation of 26 U. S.C. § 7206(1) (count four).! Furthernore, as a
result of having ABC pay for the installation of a new air
conditioner at his home and the installation of his used unit at a
house owned by ABC, McCord was convicted for making, or causing to
be made, false entries on bank records, in violation of 18 U S. C
88 2 and 1005 (count five), and m sapplication of bank funds, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 2 and 656 (count six). Concerning a |oan

made by ABC to his brother-in-law, MCord was convicted both for

. McCord's wife was acquitted on the tax count, the only one in
whi ch she was char ged.



unlawful ly receiving part of the proceeds, in violation of 18
US C 8 1005 (count eight), and for noney |aundering for the
deposit of the proceeds he received, in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§
1957 (count nine).

Hal ey was sentenced, inter alia, to five nonths inprisonnent,
wWth a recommendation that it be served at a hal fway house. MCord
was sentenced, inter alia, to 36 nonths inprisonnent on the tax
count and 37 nont hs on each of the other five counts of conviction,
all to be served concurrently, and ordered, inter alia, to pay
$2,950 restitution (amount of the air conditioner invoice), and to
forfeit $17,000 (proceeds received fromthe | oan to his brother-in-
I aw) .

.

Hal ey chal | enges the denials of his notions for severance and
to dismss the indictnent, the jury charge, and the sufficiency of
the evidence to support his conviction. MCord contests the jury
instructions, sufficiency of the evidence, the noney |aundering
conviction (on constitutional grounds), and his sentence (on four
bases).

The bul k of the nunerous contentions concern the sufficiency
of the evidence. The follow ng analysis of the evidence, and the
proper inferences that can be drawn fromit, required in order to
review the sufficiency chall enges, anply denonstrates, once again,
why our standard of review for such challenges is so narrow. For
numer ous, and nost obvious reasons, we do not sit to retry the

charges agai nst Hal ey and McCord; that is the function of the jury.



A

It is the jury's "unique role" to judge the credibility and
eval uate the deneanor of w tnesses and to decide how nmuch wei ght
should be givento their testinony. E.g., United States v. Hi gdon,
832 F.3d 312, 315 (5th Gr. 1987), cert. denied, 484 U. S 1075
(1988). OQur resulting narrow standard of review for sufficiency of
the evidence challenges "gives full play to the responsibility of
the trier of fact fairly to resolve conflicts in the testinony, to
wei gh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic
facts to ultimate facts". Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U S. 307, 319
(1979).

Accordingly, MCord and Haley's sufficiency of the evidence
chal l enges fail if a rational trier of fact could have found that
the Governnent proved the essential elenments of the crinme charged
beyond a reasonabl e doubt. United States v. Wbster, 960 F.2d
1301, 1307-08 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, ___ US. __ , 113 S. Ct.
355 (1992). Toward that end, "[w] e nust view the evidence in the
light nost favorable to the verdict, accepting all credibility
choi ces and reasonabl e i nferences made by the jury”. United States
v. (@Gardea-Carrasco, 830 F.2d 41, 43 (5th Gr. 1987) (footnote
omtted). Moreover, "[i]t 1is not necessary that the evidence
exclude every reasonable hypothesis of innocence or be wholly
i nconsistent with every conclusion except that of quilt .... A
jury is free to choose anong reasonable constructions of the
evi dence". United States v. Bell, 678 F.2d 547, 549 (5th Cr.
1982), aff'd, 462 U S. 356 (1983). Finally, "our review renains



t he sane whet her the evidence is direct or circunstantial". United
States v. Cardenas, 9 F.3d 1139, 1156 (5th Cr. 1993), cert.
denied, 114 S. . 2150 (1994).

For a conspiracy in violation of 18 US C. § 371, the
Gover nnment must prove "that the defendant entered i nto an agreenent
wth at | east one other person to conmt a crinme against the United
States and that any one of these conspirators commtted an overt
act in furtherance of that agreenent”. United States v. Chaney,
964 F.2d 437, 449 (5th Gr. 1992) (enphasis in original). "The
governnment nust also prove that the defendant knew of the
conspiracy and voluntarily becane part of it". | d. Hal ey and
McCord were charged with conspiring to violate 8§ 1954, which
provides in pertinent part:

Whoever being--

(1) [a] ... trustee ... of any enployee
benefit plan; or

(2) an officer ... of an enployer
whose enpl oyees are covered by such plan; or

(4) a person who, or an officer ... of an
organi zation which provides benefit plan
services to such plan

receives or agrees to receive or solicits any fee,
ki ckback, comm ssion, gift, |oan, noney, or thing
of val ue because of or with intent to be influenced
wWth respect to, any of his actions, decisions, or
other duties relating to any question or matter
concerni ng such plan or any person who directly or
indirectly gives or offers, or promses to give or
of fer, any fee, kickback, commssion, gift, |oan

money, or thing of value prohibited by this
section, shall be fined not nore than $10,000 or
i nprisoned not nore than three years, or both:
Provi ded, That this section shall not prohibit the
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paynment to or acceptance by any person of bona fide
sal ary, conpensation, or other paynents nade for
services actually perfornmed in the regular

course of his duties as such ... officer, trustee,
: or enployee of such plan, enployer, ... or
organi zation providing benefit plan services to
such pl an.

18 U.S.C. 8§ 1954 (enphasis in original).

Hal ey and McCord contend that the Governnent failed to prove,
as required by 8 1954, that stock was transferred by Haley to
McCord "because of" MCord' s actions or decisions as an ESOP
trustee; and that the section's bona fide conpensati on exceptionis

applicable.? The facts underlying the charged conspiracy are as

2 McCord and Hal ey claimalso that "Wharton's Rule" prohibits
their conspiracy convictions because they were the only two naned
co-conspirators and were acquitted of substantive violations of §
1954, the only object of the conspiracy. "Wuarton's Rule states
that "[a]n agreenment by two persons to commit a particular crine
cannot be prosecuted as a conspiracy when the crinme is of such a
nature as to necessarily require the participation of two persons
for its commssion'". United States v. Brown, 7 F.3d 1155, 1162
n.6 (5th Gr. 1993) (quoting 1 R Anderson, Wiarton's Crim nal Law
and Procedure, 8§ 89, at 191 (1957)). Wsarton's Rule applies only
when "it is inpossible under any circunstances to commt the
substantive offense wthout cooperative action". ld. at 1163
(internal quotation marks and citation omtted; enphasis in
original).

Because this issue is being raised for the first tine on
appeal, we review it only for plain error. United States .
Rodri guez, 15 F.3d 408, 414-17 (5th Cr. 1994). There is none;
even assum ng that McCord and Hal ey satisfy the first stepin plain
error analysis, that there was an error, that error is not "plain"
("clear" or "obvious"). ld. at 415. In short, it is nost
gquestionabl e whether the rule applies to 8 1954, in the |ight of,
inter alia, the section's legislative history reflecting that the
purpose of 8§ 1954 was to protect plan participants and their
dependents, interstate commerce, and the national public interest.
See 1962 U. S.C.C. A N 1532, 1532-39, 1549. See lannelli v. United
States, 420 U. S. 770, 784 (1975) ("[u]nlike the consequences of the
classic Warton's Rule offenses, the harm attendant upon the
comi ssi on of the substantive offense [proscribed by § 1954] is not
restricted to the parties to the agreenent.") Accordingly, because
the error (assuned) is not plain, we need proceed no further in our
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follows. (Haley did not testify; MCord did.)

During the early 1980s, MCord and Hal ey worked together at
Red Bird Bank in Dallas. In 1985, several ABC directors asked
Hal ey to invest in ABC, which had been operating under a cease and
desi st order since 1984. Hal ey did so, was elected chairnman of
ABC s board, and brought in MCord as executive vice president.
McCord becanme president in April 1986; and that Decenber, ABC
rai sed $362, 761 through a public stock offering.® By 1987, it had
becone profitable.

In June 1987, Red Bird Bank | oaned $78, 040 to the corporation
owned by Haley, Leisure Valley, Inc. The | oan was secured by
80, 000 shares of ABC stock and personally guaranteed not only by
Hal ey, but also by McCord.* That Decenber, the |oan was renewed
for a year, with the anobunt increased to $162,040. It was secured
by 175, 000 ABC shares and agai n personally guaranteed by Hal ey and
McCor d.

Inlate 1987 or early 1988, after McCord attended a sem nar at
whi ch Banking Consultants of Anmerica (BCA) nade a presentation
about enpl oyee stock ownership plans (ESOPs), ° he and Hal ey deci ded

anal ysi s.

3 At $1.00 per share, 362,761 were sold; MCord purchased
40, 000.

4 Nei t her side advances why MCord personally guaranteed the
loan to Haley's corporation, nor is there any explanation in the
record.

5 Charles Bullock, a tax |awer who had been enpl oyed by BCA,
testified that an ESOP is a retirenent plan, nmuch like a profit-
sharing plan, except that it invests primarily in enployer
securities; and that an ESOP can be used for the purposes of
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to establish one at ABC, and McCord retained BCAin July 1988 to do
so0.% BCA advised ABC that the ESOP could not pay nore than fair
mar ket value for stock; and as it recommended, ABC retained an
i ndependent appraiser. An appraisal was necessary because there
was no active market for ABC stock. The stock was apprai sed at
$2. 35 per share as of July 1, 1988.

Prior to Septenber 20, 1988, Hal ey owned 170, 000 shares of ABC
stock; his corporation, Leisure Valley, 174,000; and MCord,
105, 000. On Septenber 20, Leisure Valley transferred 70,194
shares to MCord -- 34,477 by one certificate and 35,717 by
another. MCord clainms that he paid $81, 020 for the 34,477 shares
(at the $2.35 appraised value), but received the 35,717 shares as
a gift fromHaley for nmaking ABC profitable. On the other hand,
Hal ey maintains that, as a reward for McCord's work, he sold McCord
all 70,194 shares at a discount for $80, 723.10 ($1. 15 per share).?®

enpl oyee notivation, retirenment benefits, raising capital as a
t akeover defense, and creating a market for stock. An ESOP is
created by resolution of the sponsoring enployer's board of
directors, and the ESOP's trustees are responsible for its
oper ati ons. In an ESOP, a trust owns shares of the enployer's
stock for the benefit of the enployees. The stock is contributed
to the plan at no cost to the enployees, and ESOPs may acquire
stock by purchasing it from either the sponsoring enployer or
shar ehol der s.

6 McCord testified that attracting good people to work for ABC
was difficult; that once he had trai ned enpl oyees, he lost themto
ot her banks; and that the ESOP was to notivate enpl oyees and give
theman incentive to stay with ABC

! There were approxi mately 815,000 shares of ABC stock issued,
w th approxi mately 150 sharehol ders.

8 In a pre-indictnent interview, Haley stated that he sold the
stock at a discount because he wanted to recognize MCord's hard
wor k and success at ABC. And, on its inconme tax return, Leisure
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The ESOP trust agreenent was executed ten days later --
Septenber 30, 1988. That sane day, MCord and Hal ey, as trustees
of the ESOP, borrowed $162,040 from Red Bird Bank on behal f of the
ESOP, so that it could purchase stock.® As required by law, the
| oan was non-recourse; for collateral, Red Bird Bank could | ook
only to the stock purchased by the ESOP. Red Bird Bank required
McCord and Haley to pledge their remaining ABC stock and to
personal | y guarantee the ESCP | oan. 0

El even days | ater (October 11), McCord sold to the ESOP 34, 477
shares of the ABC stock he had received on Septenber 20. The sale
was at the appraised value of $2.35 per share; $81, 020 was paid.
(As discussed, this equals the amount paid by McCord to Haley's
corporation.) The ESOP al so purchased the sanme nunber of shares of
ABC stock (34,477) from Leisure Valley for $81,020 (appraised

val ue) . That sane day, in paynent for the stock transferred to

Vall ey reported the entire transfer to McCord as a sale. At $1.15
per share, 70,194 would cost $80, 723.10; but, 34,477 at $2.35 per
share totals $81,020.95 (the anmpbunt MCord paid). Al t hough the
Governnent's wi tnesses, who reviewed the pertinent records, agreed
wth Haley's position, the Governnent does not explain why MCord
paid $81, 020, rather than $80, 723. 10.

o Bul l ock testified that in a significant nunber of ESOPs the
stock is purchased with borrowed funds.

10 Red Bird Bank was eligible for a 50% tax exenption on the
interest it earned on the ESOP | oan.

1 McCord testified that, originally, the ESOP was going to
purchase the stock only from Haley; that Haley asked him if he
wanted to sell sone of his shares, but he was not interested
because he felt that the stock was appreciating and was | ooking to
it as a retirenent plan; and that, because Hal ey wanted the bank
enpl oyees to believe that the ESOP stock was com ng from both of
themand did not want to usurp McCord's authority by being the only
contributor of shares to the ESOP, Hal ey asked McCord to buy the
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hi mon Sept enber 20 by Hal ey's corporation, McCord deposited in the
account of that corporation, Leisure Valley, his $81,020 fromhis
sale to the ESOP. In turn, Leisure Valley used the proceeds from
the two sales to the ESOP (its and MCord's) to pay off Leisure
Val | ey' s Decenber 1987 $162, 040 | oan from Red Bird Bank, which was
to becone due that Decenber, and had been personal |y guarant eed by
Hal ey and M:Cor d.

I n August 1990, the O fice of the Conptroller of the Currency
decl ared ABC insolvent, after requiring it to accept liability for
the ESOP | oan and to charge off other |oans.!?

1

"Under 8§ 1954, a defendant may be convicted of receiving a
[thing of value] (a) "because of' or (b) "with intent to be
influenced with respect to' any actions or decisions relating to
the plan involved". United States v. Pieper, 854 F.2d 1020, 1024
(7th Gr. 1988) (enphasis in original). The Governnent proceeded
under the "because of" prong. “"[1]t is not necessary that a
def endant have had actual ability to control investnent decisions
of a [plan] so long as, because of his status, he had ostensible
power over decisions regarding the [plan]". ld. at 1025. As
noted, Hal ey and McCord contend that the Governnent failed to prove
that they conspired to transfer ABC stock to McCord "because of"

his position as an ESOP trustee; that, instead, the stock was a

stock fromhimand then sell it to the ESCP.

12 It appears that ABC was required to accept liability for the
ESOP | oan because of ABC s nonthly $3, 000 paynents to the ESOP for
its use to pay the note.
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reward for McCord's work at ABC, an entity separate fromthe ESOP
I n support, they note that the ESOP was not created until after the
transfer.

There is sufficient evidence that McCord and Hal ey agreed to
transfer ABC stock to McCord "because of" his authority as an ESOP
trustee to deci de how, and fromwhom the ESOP woul d acquire stock.
They decided to establish an ESOP, the only type of enployee
benefit plan which allows trustees to sell their shares to the
plan,® rejecting other types of benefit plans.!* They elected to
serve as trustees and, as such, had authority to decide how nuch
stock the ESOP woul d purchase and fromwhom Al though no specific
anount of stock was required to fund the ESOP, MCord and Hal ey
decided that it would purchase 68,954 shares at $2.35 per share,
for a total of approximately $162,040% -- the amount of Leisure

Valley's (Haley's corporation) note at Red Bird Bank, which they

13 The ESOP trust agreenent gave the trustees power to enter into
transacti ons between t hensel ves, as trustees, and the bank, or any
bank sharehol der, for the purpose of acquiring or selling bank
stock. Governnent wi tnesses testified that it is not unusual, at
smal |, i ndependent banks such as ABC, for bank officers to serve as
ESOP trustees, and that it is not unusual for ESOP trustees to sel
their stock to the ESOP. An attorney enployed by BCA testified
that ERI SA establishes two standards that apply when a "party in
interest" sells stock to an ESOP. (1) the party in interest can be
paid no nore than adequate consideration for the stock, which is
generally the appraised fair market value; and (2) no one can earn
a comm ssion on the sale. He testified further that, if those two
requi renents are satisfied, there is nothing wong with a trustee,
who al so happens to be a maj or sharehol der, officer, or director of
t he bank, selling stock to an ESOP.

14 McCord testified that they rejected a 401K or a profit sharing
pl an because they wanted to gi ve the enpl oyees a vested interest in
the grow h and performance of the bank.

15 At $2.35 per share, 68,954 totals $162, 041. 90.
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had personally guaranteed, and which was to becone due
approximately three nonths later, in Decenber 1988. |ndeed, the
proceeds fromthe sales to the ESOP were used to pay off that | oan.
Al t hough Leisure Valley could have sold all 68,954 shares to
the ESOP, it instead sold only 34,477, transferring approximtely
70, 200 shares to McCord, who then sold to the ESOP approxi mately
half of those shares (the sanme anmount as sold to the ESOP by
Lei sure Valley). The Governnent introduced evi dence that the ESOP
coul d have been funded with ABC treasury stock. In addition, other
shar ehol ders owned stock which could have been purchased by the
ESOP, but Hal ey and McCord did not give theman opportunity to sel
their shares toit.'® Al though the Governnent's witnesses testified
that there was no formal requirenent that other sharehol ders be
notified of the ESOP's plans to purchase stock, BCA's president
testified that it would have been prudent for McCord and Haley to
notify the mpjority shareholders. It is true that McCord and Hal ey

sold their stock to the ESOP at the apprai sed val ue; but that price

16 Tul Il y Shahan, one of the founding directors of ABC, testified
that, in 1988, or 1989, he talked to MCord about selling his
22,000 shares of ABC stock to ABC. MCord told himthat ABC m ght
be interested in buying the stock at $1.25 per share, and did not
mention the July 1988 apprai sal of $2.35 per share. Tom Schnei der,
anot her founding director of ABC, testified that he owned 135, 000
shares of ABC stock in 1988, but was not given an opportunity to
sell his stock to the ESOP

Al t hough bot h Shahan and Schneider testified that they would
not have been willing to sell their stock to the ESOP at $2. 35 per
share if they had been required to guarantee the ESOP's $162, 040
loan from Red Bird Bank, the director for the United States
Departnent of Labor Pension and Wel fare Benefits Adm nistration in
the Dallas region testified that there is no requirenent that
persons who sell stock to an ESOP nust guarantee any note in
connection wth that transaction.
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was the maxi mum or ceiling, that the ESOP could pay. There was
nothing to prevent the ESOP from purchasing shares from other
sharehol ders for less than the appraised price, had there been
willing sellers.?

The evi dence strongly supports the inference that McCord and
Hal ey chose not to notify the other sharehol ders because they had
deci ded that the ESOP woul d purchase stock only fromthem at the
apprai sed value. They benefited fromthe sales, inasnmuch as there
was not an active market for the stock, and the proceeds were used
to pay off Leisure Valley's note at Red Bird Bank, which they had
personal | y guaranteed. (Although they al so personally guaranteed
the ESOP loan from Red Bird Bank, they anticipated that the | oan
woul d be paid by ABC s contributions to the ESOP. As noted, it
contri buted $3,000 per nonth to the ESOP for that purpose. )

The timng of the stock transfer also supports an inference
that it was "because of" MCord's authority as an ESOP trustee to
deci de fromwhomthe ESOP woul d purchase stock. MCord joined ABC
in 1985, and he testified that it had becone profitable by 1987;
yet Haley waited until Septenber 20, 1988 -- ten days before the

ESOP was established -- to transfer the stock to McCord, ostensibly

17 Bul | ock testified that the biggest abuse of an ESOP i s selling
stock to it at an inflated price.

18 Bul | ock testified that when an ESCP borrows noney, the loanis
repaid through contributions to the trust from the sponsoring
enpl oyer. McLeod, a tax |lawyer and certified public accountant

with BCA, who drafted the docunents for the ESOP | oan, testified
that the only source of funds to repay the ESOP l|oan is
contributions from the sponsoring enployer, and that the |ender
relies on the enployer to make contributions to the ESOP to enabl e
paynent of the | oan.
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to reward his past services in making ABC profitable. At the sane
time, McCord sold 34,477 of the shares to the ESOP at the apprai sed
price.?®

That the transfer occurred before the ESOP was formally
established (by ten days) is insignificant in light of the fact
that McCord and Hal ey exercised control over the ESOP at |east as
early as July 1988, when ABC retained BCA.2° Although the ESOP
trust agreenment was not signed until Septenber 30, 1988, ABC s
board adopted a resolution making the ESOP effective January 1,
1988. Moreover, MCord testified that, prior to the signing of the
ESOP docunents, it had been agreed who the trustees woul d be, where
the funding would conme from and how many shares the ESOP woul d
pur chase.

In sum the evidence supports the jury finding that Hal ey and
McCord agreed that Hal ey, through Leisure Valley, would transfer
ABC stock to McCord "because of" his position as an ESOP trustee,
i ncluding his authority to nmake deci si ons about the manner in which
the ESOP was funded. Accordingly, the standard for affirmng the

jury's verdict is net: a rational trier of fact could have found

19 As stated, McCord clains that he paid the appraised val ue of
$2.35 per share for the 34,477 shares, and received the 35,717
shares as a gift from Haley for his efforts in naking ABC
profitable; Haley, that he rewarded MCord by selling him al
70,194 shares for only $1.15 per share.

20 McCord testified that he di scussed the ESOP with t he ABC board
in July 1988.
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that the essential elenents for a conspiracy were proved beyond a
reasonabl e doubt . ?
2.

Inthe alternative, McCord and Hal ey contend that the evi dence
est abl i shes that the stock transfer to McCord falls within § 1954's
"bona fide conpensation" exception to crimnal liability. As
quoted earlier, that exception permts

the paynent to or acceptance by any person of bona

fide salary, conpensation, or other paynents
for services actually performed in the regular

course of his duties as ... officer, trustee,

or enployee of such plan, enployer, ... or
organi zation providing benefit services to such
pl an.

18 U.S.C. § 1954.

The Governnment interprets the exception to apply only to
conpensation (to include "other paynents") for services rendered
for the ESOP, and therefore maintains that it is inapplicable,
because Hal ey and McCord both concede that the stock transfer was
not for services that McCord perfornmed for the ESOP. W agree,

however, with Hal ey and McCord that the exceptionis not [imtedto

21 Several circuits have held that proof of specific intent is
not required under the "because of" prong of §8 1954. United States
v. Soares, 998 F.2d 671, 672-74 (9th Cr. 1993), cert. denied,
UusS _ , 114 S C. 927 (1994); United States v. Pieper, 854 F.2d
1020, 1024-26 (7th Gr. 1988); United States v. Romano, 684 F.2d
1057, 1063-64 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1016 (1982); United
States v. Friedland, 660 F.2d 919, 925-27 (3d Cr. 1981), cert.
deni ed, 456 U. S. 989 (1982). Haley contends that, irrespective of
the intent required for violation of 8 1954, the Governnent failed
to prove that he specifically intended to agree to violate § 1954,
as required for proof of conspiracy under 18 U S . C § 371. We
di sagree. As shown above, there was anple circunstantial evidence
that Hal ey and McCord specifically intended to agree to transfer
ABC stock to MCord because of his actions or decisions as a
trust ee.
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services perforned for the ESOP;, its plain |anguage indicates
ot herwi se. Anong ot her things, the exception applies to "bona fide

sal ary, conpensation, or other paynents" (paynents) to an officer,

such as McCord, "for services ... perforned in the regular course
of his duties as ... officer ... of [an] enployer", such as ABC,
"whose enpl oyees are covered by [a] plan". Neverthel ess, we do not

agree that Haley and MCord qualify for the exception; their
interpretation overl ooks the requirenent that the paynents be "bona
fide".?22

Al though 8§ 1954 does not define "bona fide", we can easily
discern its intended neaning by reading it as a whole. See, e.g.,
N. Singer, 2A Sutherland Statutory Construction 8§ 46.05, at 103
(5th ed. 1992) ("each part or section [of a statute] should be
construed in connection with every other part or section so as to
produce a harnonious whole"; "it is not proper to confine
interpretation to the one section to be construed") (footnotes
omtted). Section 1954 first describes what is prohibited -- inter
alia, the receipt of a thing of value "because of" any actions or
decisions relating to the benefit plan. |t then describes, in the
exception, what is not prohibited -- inter alia, the paynent or

acceptance of "bona fide salary, conpensation, or other paynents

22 As noted, the exception is not limted to salary or
conpensation; it includes "other paynents". Accordingly, although
McCord was not an enployee of the corporation that transferred
stock to him so that the transfer was not salary or conpensation
as those ternms are understood in their normal enployer/enpl oyee
sense, the transfer was a form of "other paynents"” that m ght
qualify for the exception. But, as discussed infra, the exception
is satisfied only if the "salary, conpensation, or other paynents"
are "bona fide".
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for services actually perfornmed in the regular course of
duties". (As noted, this includes duties as an officer of the
enpl oyer providing the ESOP.) When the exception is read in
context with the remainder of § 1954, it is clear (indeed, nost
obvious) that the exception does not apply to paynents to an
of ficer of an enployer providing an ESOP or to a trustee of the
ESOP "because of" his actions or decisions relating to the plan if
they are not "in the regular course of his duties". I n other
words, paynents given or received with that notivation are not
"bona fide" within the neaning of the exception.?

As discussed, there was anple evidence that Haley's stock
transfer to McCord ("ot her paynents") was not notivated by McCord's
performance as a bank officer (bona fide), but because, as an ESOP
trustee, he had the authority to make decisions with respect to the
manner in which the ESOP would be funded. Accordingly, the

transfer does not qualify for 8 1954's exception. ?*

23 Qur reading is consistent with the jury charge: "bona fide"
was defined as "in good faith, exclusive of fraud or deceit".
Nei t her Hal ey nor McCord chall enge that definition.

24 Hal ey contends that the district court erred by denying his
nmotion to dism ss the indictnent, because the Governnment failed to
charge that his conduct did not fall within the exception. Prior
totrial, he did not nove to dism ss the indictnent on this ground,
he did so during, and after, trial. Fed. R Cim P. 12(b)(2) and
(f) provide that objections based on defects in the indictnent,
other than those attacking jurisdiction or claimng that the
indictnment fails to charge an offense, are waived if not nmade prior
totrial. See, e.g., United States v. Muton, 657 F.2d 736, 739
n.3 (5th Cr. 1981). Because Haley's objection is that the
indictnment fails to charge an offense, it was not waived.

In any event, the objection fails. "Cenerally, a statutory
exception to an offense need not be alleged in the indictnment and
the burden of proving conpliance wth the exception is upon the
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B
McCord and Haley each challenge the jury instructions on
conspiracy. McCord contends that the district court erred by
giving the Governnent's requested instruction on the § 1954
exception; Haley, that the court erroneously refused his requested
instructions on his defensive theory, and erroneously instructed
that the evidence proved a conspiracy if it showed that the

defendants "or either of them knew the unlawful purpose of the
agreenent and willfully joined the conspiracy.

"W afford the district court substantial Jlatitude in
formulating its instructions, and we review a district court's
refusal to include a defendant's proposed jury instruction for
abuse of discretion". United States v. Chaney, 964 F.2d at 444.
In applying this standard, we review the charge "as a whole to
determ ne whether that instruction fairly and accurately reflects
the law and covers the issues presented in the case". | d.
"[Where the contention is that the district court has refused to

give an instruction, we determne whether the requested

i nstruction: (1) is a correct statenent of the law, (2) was

defendant”. United States v. Qutler, 659 F.2d 1306, 1309 n.3 (5th
Cr. 1981), cert. denied, 455 U S. 950 (1982). Section 1954 is not
one of those "rare instances [where] an exception can be so
necessary to a true definition of the offense that the el enents of

the crinme are not fully stated without the exception”. ld. at
1310; see also Sutton v. United States, 157 F.2d 661, 665-66 (5th
Cr. 1946) ("In anindictnent ..., it is not necessary to negative

the matter of an exception nmade by a proviso or other distinct
clause in the statute, whether in the sane section or elsewhere;
but, if the exception itself is incorporated in the definition of
the offense so that the elenents of the crinme are not fully stated
w thout the exception, then it mnust be negatived".) (footnote
omtted).
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substantially given in the charge as a whole; and (3) concerns an
inportant point in the trial, the om ssion of which seriously
inpaired the defendant's ability to present a given defense
effectively". 1d.
1
As noted, the district court gave the Governnent's requested

instruction on 8 1954' s exception. After stating the | anguage from
8§ 1954, to include the exception, it provided in part that

bona fide salary, conpensation or other paynents

means that the salary, conpensation or other

paynments w ere] received in good faith, exclusive

of fraud or deceit. An adm nistrator, officer,

trustee, custodian, counsel, agent or enployee of

such plan, enployer, enployee organization or

organi zation providing benefit plan services to

such plan nmust disclose the salary or conpensation,

that he is receiving, to qualify for the bona fide

conpensati on exception.?
This portion of the instruction was based on United States v.
Schwi mrer, 924 F.2d 443 (2d Gr.), cert. denied, = US |, 112
S. . 55 (1991). The defendant in Schwi nmer was an investnent
advi sor to pension plan trustees, and was convicted of violating 8§
1954 for failing to report conm ssions fromfinancial institutions
for the placenent of plan funds. 1d. at 447-48. The jury charge
in Schwi nmer defined " bona fide' to nean "in good faith or without
deceit or fraud'"; and, in response to a jury request for
clarification, it was instructed "that a fiduciary nust disclose

the actual comm ssion he is charging in order to qualify for the

25 As noted, the | anguage of the exception preceded this part of
the instruction. It was read to the jury twce: wth respect to
count two and to count three (the 8§ 1954 substantive charges).
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bona fide conpensation exception”. ld. at 448. The Second
Circuit, rejecting Schwmer's challenge to the instruction,
st at ed:
"Bona fide" literally nmeans in good faith
exclusive of fraud or deceit. It cannot be said
t hat one who receives a conm ssion froma financi al
institution for placing enployee benefit plan
funds, wthout disclosing to the plan the actual
comm ssions received, is acting in good faith ...
Because [8] 1954 uses broad |anguage to protect
pl an beneficiaries from dishonest or unfaithful
fiduciaries, it seens clear that the statute was
meant to reach Schwimer's intentional failure to

informthe trustees ... that he was extracting a
comm ssion fromthe placenent of their investnents.

As noted, MCord does not contend that the instruction
erroneously defined "bona fide"; nor does he contend specifically
that it was error to instruct that good faith requires disclosure.
| nstead, he asserts that the instruction based on Schwi mer is
i napplicabl e because he received the 35,717 shares from Hal ey,
t hrough Leisure Valley, as conpensation for his past services at
ABC, not as conpensation for his services on behalf of the ESOP,
unl i ke the defendant in Schw nmer, whose conmm ssions were directly
related to his activities for the pension plan.

First, the jury was instructed on McCord's theory of defense.
Second, McCord's position is based on an erroneous interpretation
of the exception. As discussed, conpensation paid to or received
by a trustee because of his actions or decisions with respect to
the plan that are not perforned in the regul ar course of his duties

is not "bona fide" within the neaning of § 1954. Therefore, MCord



has not denonstrated that the district court abused its discretion
through its exception instruction.
2.

The district court refused to instruct the jury on Haley's
defensi ve theory -- that he conplied with all of the | aws governi ng
ESOPs, and that he sold the stock to MCord at a discount as
conpensation for his services at ABC Because the indictnent
contained references to ERISA and terns defined by it, Haley's
requested i nstructions sought to submt other portions of ERI SA "so
that the jury could understand "the rest of the story'". Hal ey
requested that the jury be instructed (1) that 8§ 1954 does not
prohi bit the paynent of bona fide conpensation to a bank enpl oyee
for services actually perfornmed; (2) on the fiduciary duties of an
ESOP trustee under ERI SA; (3) that, under ERI SA, an ESOP trustee
has no duty to i nformsharehol ders of a proposed stock purchase by
the ESOP; (4) on the good faith provision of ERISA;, and (5) on a
summary of conduct permtted and prohi bited by ERI SA. He maintains
that the charge, which contained instructions on the bona fide
conpensati on exception for the substantive violations of § 1954
charged in counts two and three, but did not contain them wth
respect to the conspiracy charged in count one, msled the jurors
to believe that they could not apply the exception to that count.
He maintains that, because the charge on the conspiracy count
| acked both the statutory exception and the i nstructions expl ai ni ng
the relevant portions of ERISA, the jury |acked any information

about his theory of defense on the conspiracy count.
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We disagree. As noted, the jury was instructed twi ce on the
exception (for counts two and three). Considering the instructions
as a whole, there is no basis for Haley's assunption that the jury
was msled to believe that the exception was inapplicable to the
conspiracy charge. And, Haley was charged with a crimnal
conspiracy to violate 8 1954; he was not charged wth civil
vi ol ations of ERI SA The requested instructions, pertaining to
civil violations of ERISA, do not constitute a legally sufficient
defense to the conspiracy charge. See United States v. Hammons,
566 F.2d 1301, 1303-04 (5th Gr.), vacated on other grounds, 439
U.S. 810 (1978) (because facts of case did not denonstrate a | egal
defense to the crine charged, trial court did not err in refusing
to instruct the jury on defendant's defense). Accordi ngly, the
district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Haley's
requested instructions.

3.

Hal ey nmaintains that the instruction on the elenents of
conspiracy, by including the words "or either of thent, erroneously
allowed the jury to convict himw thout requiring it to find that
he had the requisite intent to be a conspirator. The instruction
provided in part:

[ Section 371] nakes it a crine for anyone to

conspire with soneone else to commt an offense
against the laws of the United States.

A conspiracy is an agreenent between two or
nore persons to join together to acconplish sone
unl awful purpose. It is a kind of partnership in
crime in which each nenber becones the agent of
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every other nenber. For you to find the
defendants, or either of them guilty of these
crinmes, you must be convinced that the governnent
has proved each of the followng beyond a
reasonabl e doubt.

First that two or nore persons nmade an
agreenent to conmt the crinme of [violating § 1954]

Second, that the defendants, or either of
them knew t he unl awful purpose of these agreenents
and joined in it wllfully, that is, wth the
intent to further the illegal purpose.

And, third, that one of the conspirators,
during the existence of the conspiracy, know ngly
commtted at | east one of the overt acts described
in the indictnment in order to acconplish sone
obj ect or purpose of the conspiracy.

(Enphasi s added.)

Hal ey takes the words "or either of thent out of context.
That | anguage, used for the second el enent of conspiracy, nerely
mrrors the preceding |anguage used for the definition of
conspiracy. It informed the jury that a finding of guilt as to one
of the defendants did not require a finding of guilt as to the
ot her .

In any event, "the presence of an inprecise or msleading
statenent within the jury instruction does not by itself entitle
defendants to a reversal. Reversible error exists only if the jury
charge, considered as a whole, msled the jury as to the el enents
of the offense". United States v. Kington, 875 F.2d 1091, 1098
(5th Gr. 1989). Even assum ng that the challenged | anguage was

m sl eadi ng, the charge, considered as a whole, would not have



permtted the jury to convict Haley unless it found that he had the
requi site knowl edge and intent to join the conspiracy. ?®
C.

In addition to chall enging the sufficiency of the evidence for
conspiracy, MCord contests it for his convictions for false
entries, msapplication of funds, unlawful participation, and
filing a false tax return. In this and the next three parts, we
deal with those clains. Again, they present a classic exanple of
why our review of a jury verdict is nobst narrow.

Concerning an air conditioner, MCord was convicted for
maki ng, or causing to be nade, false entries in ABC s records, in
violation of 18 U. S.C. §8 1005. The Governnent had to prove that:
"(1) an entry nmade in bank records is false; (2) [ McCord] nade the
entry or caused it to be made; (3) [he] knew the entry was fal se at
the tine he ... made it; and (4) [he] intended that the entry
injure or defraud the bank or public officers". United States v.
Chaney, 964 F.2d at 448.2%" "The governnent need not prove intent

to cause the bank injury; all that is required is that the

26 Qoviously, not having found error with respect to any of
Hal ey's contentions, we reject his assertion that the cunul ative
effect of nmultiple errors requires reversal of his conviction.

21 In relevant part, 18 U S.C. 8§ 1005 nakes it a crine to

maeke[] any false entry in any book, report, or
statenent of such bank, ... with intent to injure
or defraud such bank, ... or to deceive any officer
of such bank, ... or the Conptroller of the
Currency, or the Federal Deposi t | nsur ance
Corporation, or any agent or exam ner appointed to
exam ne the affairs of such bank, ... or the Board
of Governors of the Federal Reserve System....
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def endant intended to defraud one or nore of the bank's officers,
auditors, exam ners, or agents". Id. at 449.

Control Tenp installed two air conditioning units at McCord's
residence in |ate 1987. In md-1989, he told Dan Peterson wth
Control Tenp that one of the units was defective; and Peterson
replied that he would replace it when the renovations on MCord's
home were conpleted. They were conpleted that June.

I n August 1989 there was a potential tenant for a house owned
by ABC, but it was missing an air conditioner. Therefore, MCord
asked Control Tenp to provide a unit. Peterson testified that
McCord asked him what it would cost to install at ABC s house a
unit from McCord's residence and to install a new unit at his
residence; that he gave McCord the price; that "we did it"; and
that McCord told himto "send the bill to the bank"

ABC received an invoice from Control Tenp for $2,950.87.
Peterson testified that the price included renoving the unit from
McCord's residence, installing it at ABC s house, and installing a
new unit at McCord's residence.?® O critical inportance, Peterson
testified further that, if he had not had to nake the "change-out™
from McCord's residence, he would have charged $300-400 less to
install a new unit at ABC s house.

The invoice does not reflect, however, that a new unit was
installed; it sinply states, "installed 2.0 ton Janitrol heat

punp”, and lists the installation address as that of the ABC house.

28 It is clear from Peterson's testinony and the anount of the
invoice that part of that anount was for the purchase of a new
unit.
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Sylvia Omens, ABC s vice president, who was responsible for the
"other real estate owned" property files, testified that the
i nvoi ce caused her to believe that a newunit had been installed at
ABC s house. There was proof that the used unit at McCord' s hone
was worth I ess than the new unit substituted for it.

1

McCord maintains that the entries were literally true. "[A]ln
entry cannot be “false' within the neaning of [§ 1005] when it
correctly reflects the transaction and was so intended." United
States v. Hughes, 726 F.2d 170, 172 (5th Cr. 1984) (internal
quotation marks and citation omtted). But, "[t]he om ssion of
material information, as well as actual m sstatenents, qualifies as
a false entry under 18 U.S.C. § 1005". Chaney, 964 F.2d at 450
n. 39.

Qobvi ously, the evidence is nore than sufficient to prove that
McCord nmade a false entry through a material omssion, by
conceal i ng that ABC was payi ng for both a newunit at his residence
and the installation of his used unit at ABC s house. Neither the
i nvoice nor ABC s books and records reflect that MCord' s used
unit, worth less than a newunit, was installed at ABC s house, or
that a new unit was installed at McCord's residence, or that the
i nvoi ce was greater because of the cost of the work i n changi ng out
the units. As aresult, ABC s books did not accurately reflect the

bank's condi ti on.



2.

Claimng that the Governnent failed to prove that he approved
the invoice for paynent, MCord contends that the evidence was
therefore insufficient to prove that he "made or caused to be nmade"
the entries.

The invoice has notations by Sheila Cadena, an ABC officer,
indicating that entries of $1,634.06 and $1, 316.81 were to be nade
in ABCs "other real estate owned" expense and asset accounts,
respectively, totaling $2,950.87 (the anount of the invoice); and
t he Governnent introduced evidence that the two entries were nade
on ABC s books. Cadena testified that "[t]hose account nunbers
woul d have cone from Sylvia Ovens or M. MCord[,] | can't renenber
whi ch one"; nor could she recall who nmade the entries in ABC s
records. And, MCord testified that he did not recall giving
instructions as to the anmpbunts to be entered on the account
records.

Onens testified that she had the authority to approve bills
for paynent and frequently did so, but that she was on vacation
when the unit was installed and the bill paid. MCord testified
that he saw the invoice for the first time during trial
preparation; that he always placed his initials on an invoi ce when
approving it for paynent; that his initials do not appear on the
invoice; that any bank officer (Omens, Cadena, Joe N eto, or
hi msel f) had the authority to approve bills for paynent; and that,

had he seen the invoice, he probably would have authorized paynent



because it was "exactly correct", and he saw no problem wth
handl i ng the transaction that way. ?°

Cadena testified, however, that, when ABC received the
i nvoi ce, she placed it in the accounts payable fol der and gave the
folder to McCord for approval by placing it on his desk. A copy of
the cancell ed check was introduced into evidence, reflecting that
the i nvoi ce was paid.

In sum the evidence was sufficient for the jury to find that
McCord caused the entries to be nade.

D

Agai n concerning the air conditioner, McCord asserts that the
Governnent failed to prove that he willfully m sapplied bank funds,
inviolation of 18 U.S.C. § 656, because there was no evi dence t hat
he acted with the intent to defraud or injure the bank. This is
one of the several elenents of proof. United States v. Kington
875 F.2d 1091, 1100 (5th Cr. 1989).3%

As discussed, there was sufficient evidence for the jury to
find that McCord i ntended to defraud ABC by having a used unit from

his hone installed at ABC s house and a new unit installed at his

29 McCord testified that he believed that Peterson was repl aci ng
the unit at his house under warranty, and that had a bill been
submtted to himfor the work done at his house, he woul d have paid
it.
30 18 U.S.C. 8 656 makes it a crine for
an officer, director, agent or enployee of, or
connected in any capacity with any ... insured bank
... [to] wllfully msappl[y] any of the npneys,
funds or credits of such bank ...
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honme, telling the installer to "send the bill to the bank", and
approving the invoice for paynent.
E
For a second violation of 8§ 1005, MCord was convicted for
unl awful I'y recei ving $17, 000 of the proceeds of a $45,000 | oan from
ABCto his brother-in-law, Scott Finney. Under that section, it is
al so unlawful to receive, directly or indirectly, any noney or
ot her benefit through any transaction or other act of a financial
institution, with intent to defraud the institution.3 Anong other
things, the jury was instructed that a 8 1005 violation required
proof that MCord received noney directly or indirectly through a
loan from ABC, and did so with the intent to defraud ABC. ABC
financed Finney's subcontracts at an air base; but when Finney
approached McCord about borrow ng $45, 000 from ABC, because he had
underbid his first jobs, MCord refused the | oan. Fi nney then
asked McCord to personally | oan the noney; and McCord did so in the
amount of $22, 000, drawing on his $25,000 line of credit at ABC.

81 Section 1005 provides, in relevant part:

Whoever with intent to defraud the United
States or any agency thereof, or any financial
institution ... participates or shares in or
receives (directly or indirectly) any noney,
profit, property, or benefits through any
transaction, |oan, commssion, contract, or any
ot her act of any such financial institution--

Shall be fined not nore than $1, 000,000 or
i nprisoned not nore than 30 years, or both.

18 U.S.C. § 1005.



Later, Finney received a $45,000 [oan from ABC, with Owens
listed as the | oan officer. The application stated that the |oan's
pur pose was "renewal of loans originally for weddi ng expenses and
to purchase inventory. New proceeds are to fund contract".32 From
the | oan proceeds, $42,668.78 was deposited into the account of
Fi nney' s conpany; fromthat account, $17,000 was then transferred
to Finney's personal account; Finney then transferred $17,000 to
McCord's account; and MCord used those funds to reduce his
i ndebt edness on his line of credit at ABC. Utinmately, the |oan
was charged off, w thout Finney having nade any paynents on it.

1

McCord contends, without citation to authority, that § 1005,
like 18 U.S.C. 8 656 (m sapplication of funds), requires proof of
a causal connection between the defendant's status as an officer
and the naking of the |oan. See United States v. MCright, 821
F.2d 226, 230 (5th Gr. 1987), cert. denied, 484 U S. 1005 (1988)
(8 656 requires proof that defendant, through his position at bank,
aut hori zed or caused loan to be authorized). Accordi ngly, he
mai ntai ns that the Governnent was required "to prove that [he] was
the loan officer who caused the $45,000 line of credit to
Finney to be authorized".

W need not address whether § 1005 requires such proof,
because McCord neither requested an instruction on that elenent,

nor objected to the charge, which did not include that elenent.

82 ABC had | oaned Fi nney $8, 000 to purchase inventory and $3, 000
for weddi ng expenses.
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Because McCord failed to object, as required by Fed. R Cim P.
30, we review this issue only for plain error. See United States
v. Rodriguez, 15 F.3d 408, 414-17 (5th Gr. 1994). W need not
determ ne under the plain error analysis whether there was error,
or, if error, whether it was "plain", because, even assum ng both,
we woul d decline to exercise our discretion to correct it, in that
McCord's substantial rights were not affected. There was evi dence
that McCord caused the | oan to be authorized. Ownens testified that

she was Finney's per se loan officer", but that MCord
participated in, and influenced, her decisions regarding approval
of Finney's |oans. And Sandra Mal donado, an ABC enpl oyee when the
| oan was nmade, testified that, pursuant to McCord' s instructions,
she prepared the | oan worksheet for the $45,000 | oan to Finney.
2.
Contendi ng that the Governnent failed to prove that he acted
with intent to injure or defraud ABC by receiving the $17, 000,
McCord points out that Finney was current on all | oans at ABC when
t he | oan was nmade and had never been in default. Nevertheless, the
| oan application does not reflect that $17, 000 of the proceeds were
for MCord rather than for the stated purposes. There was
sufficient evidence for the jury to find that McCord acted with the
requi site intent.
F
McCord was convicted for subscribing a fal se tax return under

penalty of perjury, in violation of 26 US C. 8§ 7206(1). A 8
7206(1) violation is established by proof that (1) the defendant
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W llfully made and subscribed to a return; (2) the return contained
a witten declaration that it was nade under penalties of perjury;
and (3) the defendant did not believe that the return was true as
to every material matter. United States v. WIlson, 887 F.2d 69, 72
(5th Gir. 1989).

| RS Speci al Agent Lange testified that McCord reported taxabl e
i ncone of $29,251 for 1988, but failed to report approximtely
$83, 181, consisting of (1) a capital gain of $2,550 fromthe sale
of 3,000 shares of ABC stock purchased from Leisure Valley for
$1. 15 per share and sold to the Alleys for $2.00 per share; 3 (2)
a capital gain of $41,371 fromthe sale of 34,477 shares of ABC
stock purchased fromLeisure Valley for $1.15 per share and sold to
the ESOP for $2.35 per share; and (3) other incone of $39, 260,
consisting of the difference between the purchase price of $1.15
per share and the val ue of $2.35 per share for the 35,717 shares of

ABC stock transferred to McCord by Leisure Valley.3

33 McCord testified that he discovered the sale to the Alleys
when preparing for trial, and admtted that he made a m stake by
not including it on his tax return. As noted infra, he asserts
t hat, because the anount was not substantial, this om ssion, al one,
is not violative of § 7206(1).

34 As stated, McCord clains that he paid for the 34,477 shares,
and received the 35,717 shares as a gift fromHaley; Haley, that to
reward McCord, he sold himall 70,194 shares at a discount ($1.15
per share). As also noted, on its incone tax return, Leisure
Val l ey reported the transfer of all 70,194 shares as a sale. Lange
testified that, assum ng McCord had purchased the 34,477 shares for
$2.35 per share and had paid nothing for the 35,717 shares
(McCord's claim, there woul d have been no taxabl e gain on the sale
of the 34,477 shares to the ESOP (sold for sanme price as
purchased); but, wth respect to the 35,717 shares (if not
considered a gift), there would have been a $6,000 gain on the
3,000 shares sold to the Alleys for $2.00 a share, and a $76, 884
gain on the remai ning 32,717 shares. Lange testified that, view ng
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McCord contends that the evidence was insufficient to prove
that his incone "was substantially in excess" of that reported,
asserting that the 35,717 shares from Leisure Valley were a non-
taxable gift and "could not logically be considered to be
conpensati on" because he was not enpl oyed by Lei sure Vall ey®s; that
there was no gain on the 34,477 shares he sold to the ESOP, because
he sold them for the price he paid for them and that the
unreported gain from the sale of 3,000 shares of stock to the
Al leys is not substantial.® MCord contends that the only rational
explanation for his wife's acquittal on the tax charge, despite
proof that she wote the check to Leisure Valley to purchase the
stock, is that the jury concluded that the 35,717 shares were a
nont axabl e gift.

But, McCord overl ooks his testinony that his wi fe had nothi ng
to do with the preparation of the tax return and that he accepted

full responsibility for its contents. Because that testinony

the transaction in this manner, the effect on the tax owed woul d be
nearly the sane as if all of the shares were purchased by McCord at
$1. 15 per share.

35 Wth regard to the earlier discussed "bona fide conpensati on”
exception under 8 1954, McCord's position on the tax charge may, at
first glance, seem inconsistent, because on the one hand, wth
respect to the conspiracy charge, he clains that the 35,717 shares
received fromLeisure Valley fall under that exception for his past
services at ABC, but, on the other hand, with respect to the tax
charge, he clains that they were a gift, maintaining that they
cannot be consi dered conpensati on because he was not enpl oyed by
Leisure Valley. The positions are not inconsistent; as discussed
supra, the exception includes not only salary and conpensati on, but
al so "ot her paynents nade".

36 McCord calculates this gain as $3,000, using the donor's
(Leisure Valley's) basis of $1.00 per share and the sale price of
$2.00 per share.
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provi des an equally rational explanation for his wife's acquittal,
we refuse to speculate that the jury mght have acquitted her
because it believed the 35,717 shares were a gift.

Moreover, there was overwhel m ng evidence that the 35,717
shares were taxabl e conpensation. Agent Lange testified that a
"true gift" is not included in incone, but that, if given as a
reward, conpensation, perk, or fringe benefit, rather than out of
charity and ki ndness, with no disinterested or detached generosity
involved, "it may be called a gift, but it is conpensation for
services. And conpensation for services is always taxable". She
testified further that the relationship of the parties plays a
significant role in determ ning whether sonmething is a gift; that
property given to a person by or for or on behalf of an enpl oyer
cannot be excluded fromincone; that gifts, in anbunts greater than
$25, are not deductible on corporate tax returns; that, onits 1988
tax return, Leisure Valley reported the transfer of all 70,194
shares to McCord as a sale at $1.15 per share; and that, based on
her exam nation of Leisure Valley's return, it did not appear that
the transfer of 35,717 shares was a gift.

McCord testified that he received the ABC stock from Hal ey,
t hrough Lei sure Vall ey, because Hal ey knew that he did not "earn a
salary that was exorbitant” and that he had worked "l ate hours",
and recogni zed that, as a result of his efforts, he "had nade the
stock go up in value"; that Haley gave him the shares because
Hal ey's "stock had increased [in value] due to ... ny work in the

bank ... and he was giving ne agift". Simlarly, MCord states in
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his brief that the "35,717 shares of stock was a gift nade by M.
Hal ey through Leisure Valley, Inc. as a reward for M. MCord's
past services at [ABC]". (Enphasis added.)

Li kew se, bank exam ner Robinson testified that McCord told

her that the stock was "for his services at the bank" and that it
"was M. Haley's way of conpensating hint because "he had done a
good job at the bank". FBI Agent Alaniz testified that Haley
stated in an interview that he "wanted to reward M. MCord for
doi ng an outstanding job with the bank"; and that McCord stated in
an interviewthat the stock transferred to himfromLei sure Vall ey

was a gift "to reward himfor the hard work, [that] he had done,

during the years when the bank was struggling to be turned around”.

The Governnent sustained its burden of proving that the 35,717
shares constituted taxable conpensation rather than a nontaxabl e
gift. Accordingly, MCord s incone for 1988 was substantially in
excess of that reported.

G

Hal ey asserts that the district court abused its discretion by
denying his notions for severance, maintaining that he was
prejudiced by the spillover effect of overwhel m ng evidence of
McCord's dishonesty on counts unrelated to the ESOP conspiracy.
The foregoing review, in nunbing detail, of the evidence underlying
the charges agai nst Haley, and the nore nunerous charges agai nst
McCord, provides a good backdrop for reviewng this contention. 1In

the light of McCord' s actions for which he was convicted, it is
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nmost under st andabl e why Hal ey sought a severance. But, nore is
required.

Rule 8(a) of the Federal Rules of Cimnal Procedure
aut hori zes joinder of offenses which are "of the sane or simlar
character or are based on the sanme act or transaction or on two or
nmore acts or transactions connected together or constituting parts
of a common schene or plan". Fed. R Cim P. 8(a). And, Rule
8(b) provides for the joinder of defendants in the sane indictnent
"if they are alleged to have participated in the sane act or
transaction or in the sanme series of acts or transactions
constituting an offense or offenses”. Fed. R Cim P. 8(b).
"[ D] efendants may be charged in one or nore counts together or
separately and all of the defendants need not be charged in each
count". |Id. The conspiracy and substantive offenses charged in
counts one-three against McCord and Hal ey were based on the sane
transaction -- the transfer of stock fromHaley to McCord because
of McCord's position as an ESCP trustee. Accordingly, joinder was
proper under Rule 8.

On the other hand, Rule 14 offers relief from prejudicial

joinder; it states, in pertinent part:

If it appears that a defendant ... is
prejudiced by a joinder of offenses or of
defendants in an indictnent ... or by such joinder

for trial together, the court may order an el ection
or separate trials of counts, grant a severance of
def endants or provide whatever other relief justice
requires ....
Fed. R C&im P. 14. "If joinder is proper in the first instance

under Rule 8, the denial of a nption for severance is reviewabl e
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only for an abuse of discretion". United States v. Faul kner, 17
F.3d 745, 758 (5th Cr. 1994).

Ceneral ly, "persons who are indicted together should be tried
together". United States v. Arzol a- Amaya, 867 F.2d 1504, 1516 (5th
Cr.), cert. denied, 493 U S. 933 (1989). It goes w thout saying
that this is especially true when the defendants are charged with
the sanme conspiracy. United States v. McQuire, 608 F.2d 1028, 1031
(5th Gr. 1979), cert. denied, 446 U.S. 910 (1980). A "[s]everance
under [Rule] 14 is an appropriate renedy for a disparity in the
evidence only in the nobst extrene cases". United States v.
Harrel son, 754 F.2d 1153, 1175 (5th Cr.) (brackets in original
internal quotation marks and citation omtted), cert. denied, 474
U. S 908, 1034 (1985). Along that sane line, "the nere presence of
a spillover effect does not ordinarily warrant severance".
Faul kner, 17 F.3d at 759 (internal quotation marks and citation
omtted). To denonstrate an abuse of discretion, Haley "nust show
that: (1) the joint trial prejudiced himto such an extent that
the district court could not provide adequate protection; and (2)
the prejudi ce outwei ghed the governnent's interest in econony of
judicial admnistration". United States v. DeVarona, 872 F. 2d 114,
120-21 (5th GCr. 1989). Hal ey nust denonstrate "specific and
conpelling prejudice". Faul kner, 17 F.3d at 759 (internal
gquotation marks and citation omtted). He has not done so.

During both voir dire and trial, and in its charge, the court
instructed the jury to consi der separately the charges agai nst each

defendant. See Faul kner, 17 F.3d at 759 (noting that "[s]imlar
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instructions have been held sufficient to cure any possibility of
prejudice"); Arzola-Amya, 867 F.2d at 1516 (instruction to
"consi der each offense separately and each defendant individually

sufficiently enabled the jury to " conpartnentalize' such
evidence and prevent any “spillover' from tainting another
appel lant's case"). Furthernore, the physical evidence was
designated so that the jury could easily sort that pertaining to
each of the counts and each of the defendants.?

Finally, the acquittal of each of the defendants on at | east
one count reflects that the jury was able to sort and consider
separately the evidence applicable to each of the counts and each
of the defendants. See Faul kner, 17 F.3d at 759 (fact that "each
appel l ant was acquitted on one or nore counts ... supports the
inference that the jury considered separately the evidence as to
each defendant and each count"). The district court did not abuse
its discretion in denying a severance.

H

The Governnent concedes that the ex post facto clause, U S.
Const. art. |, 8 9, prohibits MCord' s prosecution for noney
| aunderi ng, because 18 U. S.C. § 1005, which he violated by making
the $17,000 deposit fromthe proceeds of the $45,000 ABC loan to
Fi nney on February 28, 1990, did not becone a specified unlawful

activity wunder the noney laundering statute, 18 US C 8§

87 The exhi bit nunbers relating to the ESOP were preceded by "E",
the tax exhibits by "T", the air conditioner exhibits by "A", the
bribery exhibits by "B" (as noted, MCord was acquitted of
soliciting kickbacks), and the Finney | oan exhibits by "M
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1956(c) (7), unti | nine nonths |ater, Novenber 29, 1990.
Accordingly, we reverse McCord' s conviction on that charge.
| .

McCord chal | enges four aspects of his sentence: cal cul ati on of
t he amobunt of tax loss; increases in his offense |evel for both
abuse of a position of trust and nore than m nimal planning; and
denial of a reduction for acceptance of responsibility. "W wll
uphol d a sentence inposed under the Sentencing Cuidelines so |ong
as it is the result of a correct application of the GQuidelines to
factual findings which are not clearly erroneous”". United States
v. Mra, 994 F.2d 1129, 1141 (5th Gr.), cert. denied, U S
., 114 S. Ct. 417 (1993).

1

McCord contends that, for calculating his sentence on the tax
count, the amount of tax | oss should have been based only on his
om ssion of the gain fromthe sale of 3,000 shares of ABC stock to
the Alleys. As discussed, he maintains that the only rationa
explanation for his wife's acquittal on the tax count, and his and
Hal ey's acquittals for substantive violations of § 1954, is that
the jury concluded that the 35,717 shares were a nontaxable gift.?38

We reviewthe district court's anmount of tax | oss finding only
for clear error. See United States v. Charroux, 3 F.3d 827, 838
(5th Gr. 1993). cCuideline 8 2T1.3 is applicable to violations of

38 Qobviously, our rejections of MCord' s sufficiency of the
evi dence chall enges on his conspiracy and tax convictions fly in
the face of this contention and arguably render it unnecessary to
address this issue.
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26 U.S.C. 8 7206(1), and provides in part that "the "tax loss' is
28 percent of the anmpbunt by which the greater of gross incone and
taxabl e i nconme was understated". U S. S.G § 2T1.3(1).

The probation officer calculated the |oss as $23, 290. 92 (28%
of unreported i nconme of $83,181.85). In finding the sane anobunt of
unreported incone, the district court inplicitly found that the
35,717 shares were not a gift. As discussed supra, there is anple
evidence to support this finding; it is not clearly erroneous.

2.

The Qui del i nes provide for a two-1evel increase inthe offense
level "[i]f the defendant abused a position of public or private
trust, or used a special skill, in a manner that significantly
facilitated the commssion or concealnment of the offense".
US S G 8§ 3Bl1.3. The commentary provides that "[t] he position of
trust nmust have contributed in sone substantial way to facilitating
the crine and not nerely have provi ded an opportunity that could as
easi |y have been afforded to other persons”. |I|d., coment. (n.1).
"The application of § 3B1.3 is a sophisticated factual
determ nation reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard".
United States v. Fisher, 7 F.3d 69, 70 (5th Gr. 1993).

McCord chall enges this increase, asserting that his position
as bank president did not facilitate the m sapplication of funds
for the air conditioner, and there was no evi dence t hat he approved

the invoice, instructed anyone to pay it, or signed the check. 3

39 The district court found that MCord abused his position of
trust not only as to the air conditioner counts (false entries and
m sapplication of funds), but also as to his participation in the
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But, he does not dispute that he occupied a position of trust.
And, that positionsignificantly facilitated his ability to arrange
for ABC funds to be used for the installation of a newunit at his
house, and to arrange for false entries to be placed on ABC s
books. As discussed supra, there was evidence that the invoi ce was
pl aced on MCord's desk for approval, and paid by ABC The
district court did not clearly err.
3.

"If the offense involved (A nore than m ni mal planning", the
CGuidelines provide for a two-1evel increase in the offense |evel.
US. SG 8§ 2F1.1(b)(2). For the offenses involving the air
conditioner (false entries and m sapplication of funds), MCord
chal | enges this increase.

The CGuidelines define "[njore than m ni mal planning" as "nore
pl anning than is typical for comm ssion of the offense in a sinple
form. US S G § 1B1.1, coment. (n.1(f)). " Mre than mninm
pl anning' also exists if significant affirmative steps were taken

to conceal the offense". |d. "Wether ... a defendant engages in

proceeds of the $45,000 | oan to Finney. MCord does not chall enge
the position of trust adjustnent as to the latter. Arguably, if
not obviously, the ruling on the Finney |oan, alone, would be
sufficient to i npose the increase. But, because we cannot say with
certainty that the abuse of trust ruling on the air conditioner
counts, even if erroneous, would be harm ess error in |ight of the
simlar ruling on the Finney | oan, we nust address the chall enged
ruling. See WIllianms v. United States, = US | 112 S. C
1112, 1121 (1992) (remand not required "[i]f the party defending
t he sentence persuades the court of appeals that the district court
woul d have i nposed t he sane sentence absent the erroneous factor").
Anmong ot her things, the Governnent does not claimharn ess error,
even though it notes that "[i]t does not appear that ... MCord
di sputes the position of trust adjustnent nmade as to count eight
[ Fi nney | oan]."
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nmore than mnimal planning is a fact question reviewed under the
clearly erroneous standard". United States v. Barndt, 913 F.2d
201, 204 (5th Gir. 1990).

As discussed, MCord arranged to have ABC pay for the
installation of a new unit at his residence, and to have the used
unit fromhis residence installed at ABC s house. He took steps to
conceal the offense by causing false entries to be made on ABC s
books. The district court did not clearly err in finding that the
execution of this schene involved nore than m nimal pl anni ng.

4.

The CGui delines provide for a two-1evel decrease in the offense
level of a defendant who "clearly denonstrates acceptance of
responsibility for his offense". US S G § 3EL 1(a). McCord
maintains that he was entitled to this reduction because he
truthfully told the FBI about his conduct, voluntarily surrendered
to authorities after being charged, and voluntarily resigned as
presi dent of ABC.

The Cuidelines' comentary provides that, in determning
whet her a defendant qualifies for the reduction, the court may
consi der factors such as those urged by McCord. U S . S.G § 3EL. 1,
coment. (n.1l). But the adjustnent "is not intended to apply to a
def endant who puts the governnent to its burden of proof at trial
by denying the essential factual elenments of guilt" except in those
"rare situations” in which the defendant "exercises his
constitutional right to a trial ... to assert and preserve issues

that do not relate to factual guilt (e.g., to make a constitutional
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challenge to a statute or a challenge to the applicability of a
statute to his conduct)". U S S. G 8 3E1.1, comment. (n.2). CQur
standard of review "is nore deferential than the clearly erroneous
st andard". United States v. Burian, 19 F.3d 188, 192 (5th Cr.
1994) .

McCord put the Governnent to its burden of proof at trial, and
did not admt the essential factual elenents of guilt. As one of
his wtnesses at the sentencing hearing testified, MCord "has
never, to this mnute, admtted he willfully did anything wong".
The district court did not err in refusing the reduction.

L1l

For the foregoing reasons, the judgnent against Haley is
AFFI RVED; the judgnent against McCord is AFFI RVED, except for his
money | aundering conviction, which is REVERSED, resulting in his
sentence being VACATED, and his case REMANDED for resentencing
consistent with this opinion.

AFFI RVED | N PART; REVERSED, VACATED, and REMANDED | N PART



